#### FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/5/2024 4:12 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. (Court of Appeals No. 38349-1-III) Case #: 1032285

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CURTIS FISHER,

Petitioner.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Curtis Fisher, petitioner here and respondent below, asks this Court to review the split opinion of the Court of Appeals filed June 11, 2024, attached as Appendix A.

#### **B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Article I, section 14 prohibits grossly disproportionate punishment. Curtis Fisher was convicted of one count of *second-degree* murder in 1979 when he was 17 years old. The court sentenced him to "not more than life" in prison, and Mr. Fisher is still in prison 45 years later. The law in effect since 1984 permits a sentence of no more than 19.5 years even for an adult who commits this crime.

The trial court granted a resentencing, but the Court of Appeals reversed in a split opinion. Should this Court grant review because Mr. Fisher's sentence is grossly disproportionate in violation of article I, section 14? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Curtis Fisher was born on March 5, 1962. 1 RP 25. By the time he was a teenager, he was not living with his parents and was fending for himself. CP 23. He had some trouble with the law, but not much: his only two juvenile court adjudications were for second-degree burglary and taking a motor vehicle without permission, both of which occurred when he was 15 years old. CP 23.

When he was 17 years old, he and some friends smoked cannabis and killed a person in a drug deal gone wrong. Appendix at 88-89.<sup>1</sup> On September 18, 1979, Mr. Fisher pleaded guilty to second-degree murder. CP 2, 4.

<sup>1.</sup> In 1979, Curtis Fisher was sentenced to "no more than life" in prison for a seconddegree murder committed at age 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix B, pages 84-91 of the Appendix, is the ISRB's Decision and Reasons denying release under RCW 9.94A.730, following a hearing in December of 2021. The State discussed this hearing in its opening brief, *see* Br. of Appellant at 8, but did not designate it. Thus, it is attached here.

At that time, the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) did not yet exist. Instead, the law required the trial court to set a maximum sentence, and the parole board would set a minimum term. *See* former RCW 9.95.010; RCW 9.95.020; RCW 9.95.040.<sup>2</sup> The parole board then had the authority to determine an actual release date anywhere between the minimum term and the maximum term, based on periodic reviews and parole hearings. Former RCW 9.95.040; RCW 9.95.052; RCW 9.95.110; Appendix at 92-107.

For second-degree murder, the trial court had the authority to set the maximum term anywhere between 20 years and life. Former RCW 9.95.010; RCW 9A.32.050; Appendix at 92-107. Despite the fact that Mr. Fisher was a child, the trial court set his maximum term at life, as was apparently done routinely at that time:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the Court's convenience, Mr. Fisher has attached the relevant 1979 statutes at Appendix C, pages 92-107 of the Appendix.

and the second IN THE R ERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WA HINGTON IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF YAKIMA THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Platetill NO. 79-1-00613-6 CURTIS BRIAN FISHER, JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE Defendant This matter roming on before this court, on this date, the State of Washington being Prosecuting Attorbey of Yakims County: the defendant, CURTIS appearing in person with his (court appointed) atturney, STEVE BROWN and the State of Wishington Laving moved for the imposition of senterve by the court against and defended with the trime(s) of <u>SECOND DEGREE MURDER</u> ~ RCW 9A. 32. 050 [1] defendant having oven charged committed on or about the 13th day of August , 1979 , to which charges the 18th defendant, after proper arraignment, did enter a plea of guilty to the offense(r) charged in said information on the day of September, 197.9...; WHEREUPON, said defendant having been asked by the coun if he has any legal cause to show why Judgment should not be pronounced against hun to which he replies that he has none not already shown, and no sufficient cause being shown or appearing otherwise to the court, thereupon the Court retiders lis Judgment; IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that and defendant, upon his plex of guilty, is guilty. IT IS THE FURTHER JUDGMENT OF THE COURT that said defendant be committed to the Washington Corrections Conter, for classification, confinement and placement in such correctional facility under the supervision of the Department of Socia period of not more than ..... said defendant is hereby remanded to the curtody of the Sheriff of Yakims County to be detained and delivered into the custod of the proper officers for transportation to the Washington Corrections Center or such other reception center designated by the Division of Institutions. \_ day of \_\_\_\_\_ September DONE AND SIGNED by the Court, in the presence of defendant, on the 18th PLEA #F GUILT

CP 5.

The parole board (now the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board, or ISRB), set a minimum term and reviewed Mr. Fisher's case periodically, but has never authorized his release. *See* CP 754; Appendix at 84-91. Thus, Mr. Fisher has been in prison for 45 years for a single count of second-degree murder he committed as a child. Meanwhile, in 1984, the SRA went into effect. *See* RCW ch. 9.94A. The SRA requires determinate sentences for most crimes, including second-degree murder, and the indeterminate life sentence Mr. Fisher received is no longer permissible. Indeed, under the SRA, even an adult convicted of seconddegree murder, with the same criminal history as Mr. Fisher, could serve *no more* than 19.5 years in prison. RCW 9.94A.505; RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.525; RCW 9.94A.530 (maximum sentence for person convicted of second-degree murder with offender score of 1 is 234 months). Even assuming no good time, Mr. Fisher completed 19.5 years of his sentence in 1999.

2. In 2021, the trial court granted a resentencing, but the State appealed.

In 2020, Mr. Fisher filed a CrR 7.8 motion for resentencing pursuant to *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017), *In re the Pers. Restraint of Domingo-Cornelio*, 196 Wn.2d 255, 474 P.3d 524 (2020), and *In re the*  *Pers. Restraint of Ali*, 196 Wn.2d 220, 474 P.3d 507 (2020). CP 16-36, 67-79, 702-21.

The trial court granted the motion. CP 748-49. The court recognized that under these cases and others, the state and federal constitutional provisions prohibiting cruel punishment require courts to consider the mitigating qualities of youth when sentencing children. CP 749. The court noted that pre-SRA sentences are not exempt from these constitutional requirements. CP 749. The court further recognized that in 1979, a court would not have considered a defendant's age or the mitigating qualities of youth before imposing the customary maximum sentence of life. CP 748. The court concluded that Mr. Fisher "is entitled to a new sentencing hearing." CP 749.

> 3. Although a dissenting judge noted Mr. Fisher's sentence "shocks the conscience," the two-judge majority reversed the trial court's grant of a resentencing.

Instead of proceeding to resentencing, the State filed a notice of appeal. CP 734. It then moved to stay the case multiple times, pending four cases in this Court: *In re the Pers*.

Restraint of Carrasco, 1 Wn.3d 224 ,525 P.3d 196 (2023); In re the Pers. Restraint of Hinton, 1 Wn.3d 317, 525 P.3d 156 (2023); In re the Pers. Restraint of Williams, 200 Wn.2d 622, 520 P.3d 933 (2022); In re the Pers. Restraint of Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d 581, 520 P.3d 939 (2022).

Nearly three years after the trial court granted a resentencing, the Court of Appeals reversed. Appendix at 1-12. The two-judge majority claimed Mr. Fisher's sentence was not disproportionate in light of *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 596-97, a case involving the sex-offender provisions of the SRA. Appendix at 9-10. The majority averred that the maximum term of an indeterminate sentence could not be disproportionate because any failure of the ISRB to release Mr. Fisher was tied to lack of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 10.

The majority did not address Mr. Fisher's argument explaining why the sentence was substantively unconstitutional, and instead ruled he raised merely a procedural problem that "does not amount to a substantive challenge" and does not demonstrate prejudice. *Compare* Br. of Resp't (filed 7/28/23) *with* Appendix at 7-12. The majority also opined that the 1979 court considered youth when it declined juvenile jurisdiction. *Id.* at 11-12. It did not acknowledge that the 1979 court essentially considered a child's living on his own without parents to be an aggravating circumstance, rather than appropriately recognizing it as mitigating. *See* Appendix at 46.

Judge Fearing dissented. He recognized the sentence was grossly disproportionate in light of the much shorter sentence an adult would serve for second-degree murder under the SRA. Appendix at 14, 52-53. The longest sentence a person could receive now for the same crime with the same offender score is 19.5 years, and the longest sentence a person in the same position could have received in 1984 is 14.83 years. *Id.* at 52-53. Thus, if Mr. Fisher's crime had occurred just five years later when he was a young adult, he would have been released no later than 1999, regardless of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 53. Yet, he is still incarcerated 45 years after he committed second-degree murder at age 17. "This result shocks the conscience and violates anyone's standard of fairness." *Id.* 

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Dissent was right. Mr. Fisher's sentence shocks the conscience. Contrary to the majority's opinion, this is not just a procedural problem, it is a substantive constitutional violation. Mr. Fisher necessarily shows actual and substantial prejudice because he is serving a grossly disproportionate sentence in violation of article I, section 14.

Mr. Fisher committed a single count of *second-degree* murder at age 17. His life sentence, of which he has served 45 years and counting, is grossly disproportionate, shocks the conscience, and violates article I, section 14.

1. Article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution prohibits punishment that is grossly disproportionate to the crime or the juvenile defendant.

Article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution prohibits cruel punishment. Const. art. I, § 14. Like the Eighth Amendment, which prohibits cruel and unusual punishment, article I, section 14 "must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." *State v. Fain*, 94 Wn.2d 387, 396–97, 617 P.2d 720 (1980) (quoting *Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 101, 78 S. Ct. 590, 2 L. Ed. 2d 630 (1958)).

Both provisions prohibit punishment that is grossly disproportionate to the crime or the defendant. *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 82-85, 428 P.3d 343 (2018); *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 395-96. But article I, section 14 provides even greater protection against disproportionate punishment than the Eighth Amendment. *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 393. It also provides greater protection than the Eighth Amendment in the context of juvenile sentencing. *State v. Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809, 818-19, 446 P.3d 609 (2019); *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 82.

Even under the less-protective Eighth Amendment, this Court has held that because children are less culpable than adults, "[t]rial courts must consider the mitigating aspects of youth at sentencing" when children are tried in adult court, "regardless of whether the juvenile is there following a decline hearing or not." *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 21. This rule is not limited to sentencings under the SRA, and instead applies when courts sentence children under any adult statute. *State v. Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d 169, 175, 438 P.3d 133 (2019).

Our more-protective state constitution goes even further. For instance, under article I, section 14, even children who commit multiple counts of the most heinous crime possible aggravated murder—cannot receive the same life-withoutparole sentences adults receive. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 73.

Independent of the protections it provides in the context of juvenile sentencing, our constitution's Cruel Punishment Clause prohibits punishment that is grossly disproportionate to the crime itself. *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 402. To determine whether a punishment is unconstitutionally disproportionate, a court considers: "(1) the nature of the offense, (2) the legislative purpose behind the statute, (3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions, and (4) the punishment meted out for other offenses in the same jurisdiction." *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 83 (citing *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 397). If, after an evaluation of these factors, the court concludes the punishment is disproportionate to the crime, the sentence must be reversed as cruel under article I, section 14. *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 402. The court need not reach all four factors to determine a sentence is unconstitutionally cruel. *Id.* at 401, n.7.

In *Fain*, the defendant was sentenced to an indeterminate sentence with a maximum term of life and a minimum term of 10 years, under a statute that dictated such a sentence for repeat offenders. *Id.* at 388-90 (citing former RCW 9.92.090). But the defendant's crimes were merely three thefts totaling \$470 (approximately \$2,500 in today's dollars), which the Court noted were "relatively minor" compared to crimes of violence. *Id.* at 398. Comparing Washington to other jurisdictions, the Court found that at that time, our state was one of only three that imposed similar sentences after three felonies. *Id.* at 399.

And in looking at sentences for other crimes in Washington, the Court noted that the only other crime for which our legislature mandated a maximum term of life was first-degree murder, and that those who had stolen more money during the commission of a single count of theft were subject to a maximum punishment of 10 years. *Id.* at 401. Thus, without even reaching the "legislative purpose" prong, *id.* at 401, n.7, the Court held the defendant's sentence violated article I, section 14 because it was "entirely disproportionate to the seriousness of his crimes." *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 402.

> 2. Mr. Fisher's sentence is grossly disproportionate because he has served 45 years and counting for a second-degree murder he committed in 1979 at age 17, where even an adult in the same position after 1984 could serve no more than 19.5 years.

Mr. Fisher's life sentence, of which he has served 45 years and counting, is grossly disproportionate in light of his youth and the seriousness of the crime. Appendix at 14, 49-59; Br. of Resp't at 11-15.

First, the nature of the offense is a second-degree murder committed by a child. Second-degree murder is the *third*-most serious homicide in Washington, after aggravated first-degree murder and first-degree murder. See RCW 10.95.020 (aggravated first-degree murder); former RCW 9A.32.040(1), (2) (aggravated first-degree murder in 1979); RCW 9A.32.030 (first-degree murder); RCW 9A.32.050 (second-degree murder); Appendix at 92-107. Although any loss of life is tragic, the crime involved a single victim and a gunshot, with no torture or prolonged suffering. CP 4. And it was committed by a child who was less culpable for his actions than an adult would be. See Bassett, 192 Wn.2d at 87-88; Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 22.

Second, the legislative purpose behind the punishment has evolved, and Mr. Fisher's sentence is inconsistent with contemporary legislative concerns. *See Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 396-97 (noting importance of evolving standards of decency). "Before enactment of the SRA, the Legislature adhered to the policy that actual time of imprisonment was best determined by the [Parole] Board." *Matter of Myers*, 105 Wn.2d 257, 262, 714 P.2d 303 (1986). But starting in 1984 with the SRA, "sentencing decisions ... are within the sole province of trial judges." *Id*.

The SRA dictates the range within which trial judges must choose a sentence. RCW 9.94A.505(2)(a)(i). The purposes of the SRA include "(1) Ensure that the punishment for a criminal offense is proportionate to the seriousness of the offense and the offender's criminal history; (2) Promote respect for the law by providing punishment which is just; [and] (3) Be commensurate with the punishment imposed on others committing similar offenses." RCW 9.94A.010.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The other purposes are: "(4) Protect the public; (5) Offer the offender an opportunity to improve himself or herself; (6) Make frugal use of the state's and local governments' resources; and (7) Reduce the risk of reoffending by offenders in the community." RCW 9.94A.010.

These legislative purposes dovetail with the fourth Fain factor: whether the sentence imposed is proportionate in light of the punishment meted out for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. Fain, 94 Wn.2d at 397. Mr. Fisher was a child convicted of second-degree murder, but he received the same maximum sentence that an *adult* who committed *first-degree* murder would have received in 1979. Former RCW 9A.32.040(3); Appendix at 92-107. He has already served a de facto life without parole sentence ("LWOP")—a sentence normally reserved for *aggravated* murder and one that is unconstitutional for children who commit even that most heinous crime. State v. Haag, 198 Wn.2d 309, 329-30, 495 P.3d 421 (2021); Bassett, 192 Wn.2d at 73; Appendix at 44-46.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although this Court reframed the *Haag* holding in *Anderson*, it did so in the context of a defendant who committed multiple first-degree murders and received the benefit of a resentencing hearing at which a court reconsidered the sentence in light of new evidence and case law. *State v. Anderson*, 200 Wn.2d 266, 516 P.3d 1213, 1215 (2022) (de facto LWOP sentence not unconstitutional for defendant who committed two first-degree murders and multiple assaults). Mr.

Most importantly, as noted above, the maximum possible punishment meted out for second-degree murder under the SRA is *less than half* what Mr. Fisher has already served. RCW 9.94A.505; RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.525; RCW 9.94A.530 (maximum sentence for person convicted of second-degree murder with offender score of 1 is 234 months). Thus, Mr. Fisher's sentence contravenes the legislative purposes of imposing proportionate sentences, promoting respect for the law by providing punishment which is just, and imposing sentences that are "commensurate with the punishment imposed on others committing similar offenses." RCW 9.94A.010.

This disproportionality is especially shocking given that Mr. Fisher was a child at the time of the crime. Even an adult who committed the same crime after 1984 could receive a sentence no higher than 19.5 years. RCW 9.94A.505; RCW

Fisher has never had a resentencing despite being convicted of a single count of a less-serious crime.

9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.525; RCW

9.94A.530. Yet Mr. Fisher, who was a 17-year-old child, was sentenced to life and has served 45 years and counting. Thus, without even reaching the third *Fain* factor, it is apparent that Mr. Fisher's sentence violates the Cruel Punishment Clause of the Washington Constitution. *See Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 401, n.7 (three of four factors may be dispositive).<sup>5</sup>

3. Contrary to the majority opinion, the ISRB's release decisions are irrelevant because Mr. Fisher has already served an unconstitutionally long sentence and must be released immediately.

The majority in the Court of Appeals cited Forcha-

Williams for the proposition that "the maximum term of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It may be that the third factor also goes to show disproportionality, but it would be nearly impossible to determine the punishment each state imposes for its third most serious homicide—and how that punishment may vary for children. Existing compilations are inaccurate, and compiling an accurate list would be prohibitively time-consuming. In any event, the shocking disparity between Mr. Fisher's sentence for second-degree murder and the maximum possible SRA sentence for second-degree murder resolves the issue and demonstrates an unconstitutional disproportionality.

indeterminate sentence does not create a risk of disproportionate punishment because the offender is not mandated to serve the maximum term." Appendix at 9-10 (citing *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 597). The majority was incorrect.

A maximum sentence of life may not be unconstitutionally disproportionate for serious sex offenses, where the relevant statutes mandate a maximum sentence of life for *all* offenders, but the same is not true for second-degree murder. See Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d at 585 ((citing RCW 9.94A.507(1) and (3)(b); RCW 9A.44.050(2); RCW 9A.20.021(1)(a)) (statutes mandate maximum term of life for class A and B sex offenses). As already noted, for seconddegree murder the court in 1979 had the authority to set a maximum as low as 20 years. Former RCW 9.95.010; RCW 9A.32.050; Appendix at 92-107. In 1984 a court could not have imposed more than 14.83 years for someone with Mr. Fisher's offender score, and currently a court could not impose more

than 19.5 years for a defendant in this position. Appendix at 5253. Thus, Mr. Fisher's life sentence is unconstitutionally
disproportionate even though the sentence in *Forcha-Williams*was not. And the 45 years he has already served is itself
unconstitutionally disproportionate, whereas the defendant in *Forcha-Williams* had served only three years before
challenging his sentence as unconstitutional. *Forcha-Williams*,
200 Wn.2d at 584, 593.

*Hinton* is also instructive on this issue. Like Mr. Fisher, the defendant in *Hinton* committed second-degree murder at age 17. *Hinton*, 1 Wn.3d at 321-22. But that is where the similarities stop. Unlike Mr. Fisher, Hinton *also* committed a second-degree attempted murder against another person. *Id.* Yet, unlike Mr. Fisher, Hinton received a determinate sentence of only 37 years. *Id.* at 322. And following the string of cases recognizing children's reduced culpability, Hinton's sentence was automatically converted to an indeterminate sentence with a maximum of 37 years and a minimum of 20. *Id.* at 331 (citing RCW 9.94A.730).

Despite the favorable change in his sentence, Hinton filed a CrR 7.8 motion for resentencing pursuant to Houston-Sconiers. Id. at 322-23. On review, this Court acknowledged "the core constitutional problem" presented: that "the harshest sentences designed for adults will often be grossly disproportionate punishments for juveniles." Id. at 327. But it held that on the facts of that case, RCW 9.94A.730 provided an adequate remedy because the ISRB could release Hinton after as little as 20 years, and it was required to release him after no more than 37 years. *Id.* at 331. This new sentence posed no constitutional concern. Id. at 334-35. At the same time, this Court recognized, "[of] course 'RCW 9.94A.730 cannot provide an adequate remedy under all circumstances' where a juvenile offender has been sentenced to an unconstitutionally disproportionate punishment." *Hinton*, 1 Wn.3d at 334, n. 7 (quoting *Ali*, 196 Wn.2d at 246).

21

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