FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/5/2024 3:34 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1032285 COA 38349-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CURTIS BRIAN FISHER, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jill S. Reuter, WSBA #38374 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 9890

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED
1. The unpublished Court of Appeals decision that the trial court erred in granting Fisher's CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his sentence does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4)
F. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington State Cases Page
In re Pers. Restraint of Dodge, 198 Wn.2d 826, 502 P.3d 349 (2022)
<i>In re Pers. Restraint of Forcha-Williams</i> , 200 Wn.2d 581, 520 P.3d 939 (2022)
<i>In re Pers. Restraint of Williams</i> , 200 Wn.2d 622, 520 P.3d 933 (2022)
State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018)13
State v. Fain, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980)12
State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 39 P.3d 409 (2017)
Statutes
RCW 9.94A.730(3)11
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)7, 12, 14
Federal Authorities
<i>Miller v. Alabama</i> , 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012)3

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

At issue is the unpublished court of appeals decision filed on June 11, 2024 in Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the unpublished Court of Appeals decision finding the trial court erred in granting Fisher's CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his sentence meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 13, 1979, Curtis Brian Fisher was charged with first-degree premediated murder in the death of John Rice.

CP 1. Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (ISRB) records indicate that the victim allegedly owed Fisher money for drugs.

CP 166. Fisher and two accomplices went with the victim to an area near the Yakima River where Fisher and a codefendant had the victim kneel on the ground before Fisher shot him in the chest. CP 166. When the victim got up and ran away, Fisher

and the codefendant followed him, firing additional shots. CP 166. At the time of the crime Fisher was six months shy of his eighteenth birthday. CP 1, 83. After a declination hearing, he was declined to Yakima County Superior Court. CP 12, 17, 22-24.

On September 18, 1979, Fisher entered a plea agreement to a reduced charge of second-degree murder. CP 2, 17, 166. He was informed that the maximum term was 20 years to life and that the prosecutor would recommend to the trial court, "indeterminate sentencing, life imprisonment." CP 4. Fisher was sentenced to a maximum term of life, with the minimum term left up to the parole board. CP 5-6, 17.

On December 11, 1979, the Board of Prison Terms and Paroles set Fisher's minimum term at 13 years. CP 6. At his 1400 Progress Review in 1987, it was reduced to 141 months, or 11.75 years. CP 8, 192. Over the years, the ISRB has increased Fisher's minimum term because of his lack of rehabilitation. CP 190-92. Additional time was added to his

minimum term throughout the years after numerous hearings under RCW 9.95.100 where he was found to be not parolable. CP 8, 173-77, 191-92, 200-04.

Fisher has filed two personal restraint petitions; both were dismissed. CP 8-10, 12-15.

Over 41 years after his judgment and sentence was filed, on November 30, 2020, Fisher filed a CrR 7.8 motion to vacate and set aside his judgment and sentence in the trial court. CP 5, 16-21. Fisher argued that his age, lack of development, and mental capacity were not considered by the trial judge in 1979. CP 18. Fisher asked for a new sentencing, citing *Miller v*. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) and State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 39 P.3d 409 (2017). CP 16-19. He raised his claim under the Eighth Amendment. CP 19-20, 67- 78. He asked to be resentenced under the new laws and rules as outlined in Houston-Sconiers. CP 21.

The trial court granted Fisher a resentencing hearing. CP 723, 748-49. The trial court found that the sentencing court did not consider the defendant's age or mitigating qualities of youth when it sentenced him in 1979. CP 748. The trial judge found this violated the Eighth Amendment and article 1, section 14 of the state constitution. CP 748-49. The trial judge made no findings as to prejudice. CP 748-49.

The State filed a motion for reconsideration. CP 80-701. Fisher then filed a supplemental memorandum in which he raised a state constitutional violation for the first time. CP 702-21. The State's motion for reconsideration was denied. CP 722. The State timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 734. The resentencing was stayed pending the appeal. CP 750.

While this appeal was pending, Fisher sought release under RCW 9.94A.730. *See* Appendix B attached to Fisher's Petition for Review, pgs. 84-91; *see also* CP 752-57. On December 21, 2021, the ISRB found:

Based on the burden of proof set out in RCW 9.94A.730 **or** RCW 10.95.030(3)(f) and the totality of evidence and information provided to the Board, the Board does find by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Fisher is more likely than not to commit a new criminal law violation if released on conditions. Consequently, the Board finds Mr. Fisher not releasable. Mr. Fisher can resubmit a petition for review in 24 months.

Appendix B attached to Fisher's Petition for Review, pg. 86.

Subsequently, on March 1, 2022, a hearing was held under RCW 9.95.100. CP 752-57. Fisher's release was denied and four more years were added to his minimum term. CP 754-57.

The ISRB also held a hearing under RCW 9.95.100 on July 6, 2023. *See* Appendix A, attached. An additional 36 months was added to Fisher's minimum term. *See* Appendix A, attached.

In an unpublished opinion issued on June 11, 2024, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order granting Fisher a resentencing hearing. The Court of Appeals held "the trial court applied the incorrect legal standard when it found there

had been a significant change in the law material to Mr. Fisher's sentence, when it concluded that Mr. Fisher's motion was not time barred, and when it granted the motion absent a finding that Mr. Fisher was actually and substantially prejudiced by the alleged error." Slip Opinion, pg. 5. The Court of Appeals found:

Mr. Fisher is not serving a grossly disproportionate sentence for a juvenile offender. The trial court imposed a determinate sentence of 13 years that was later reduced to 11.75 years. Any subsequent period of incarceration beyond 11.75 years has been directly tied to Mr. Fisher's lack of rehabilitation.

Slip Opinion, pg. 10.

Judge Fearing filed a dissenting opinion.

Fisher filed a Petition for Review, arguing this Court should grant review because his sentence violates article 1, section 14.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The unpublished Court of Appeals decision that the trial court erred in granting Fisher's CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his sentence does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Contrary to Fisher's assertion, the unpublished Court of Appeals decision that the trial court erred in granting his CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his sentence does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). This Court has recently

addressed the questions presented here, and therefore, further guidance is not needed in this area. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Williams*, 200 Wn.2d 622, 520 P.3d 933 (2022); *In re Pers. Restraint of Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d 581, 520 P.3d 939 (2022).

Fisher argues his sentence is disproportionate because it is more than what an adult today would receive under a standard range sentence under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA). *See* Petition for Review, pgs. 17-18. However, this is not the standard for testing disproportionality. Recent cases from this Court hold that any risk of disproportionality is alleviated because Fisher's release is directly tied to his rehabilitation. *See Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 630-31; *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 597-98.

In *Williams*, the defendant was sentenced to an indeterminate sentence of three months to life, for a sex offense. *Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 627-28. In a personal restraint petition, the defendant challenged his mandatory indeterminate term of

offender is not mandated to serve their maximum term, the maximum term of an indeterminate sentence does not raise the same risk of disproportionate punishment as the minimum term. *Id.* (citing *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 597). Our Supreme Court reasoned that an indeterminate sentence provides the opportunity for release for those who demonstrate rehabilitation. *Id.*

In *Williams*, this Court pointed out that there is not only a possibility of release, but also a statutory presumption. *Id*.

This Court held "[t]he connection between release and an offender's rehabilitation alleviates any concerns that an indeterminate sentence beyond the minimum term will be disproportionate in light of the reduced culpability of juveniles." *Id*. This Court concluded that the substantive rule of *Houston-Sconiers* was not implicated because disproportionate punishment is not triggered by a challenge to the maximum term. *Id*.; *see also Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d

at 1. As such, the defendant was not able to claim a substantial and material change in the law. *Id.* at 633-34.

In *Forcha-Williams*, the defendant was sentenced to indeterminate sentence of 120 months to life, for a sex offense. *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 584-85. This Court held that *Houston-Sconiers* does not give judges the discretion to impose a determinate sentence in lieu of an indeterminate sentence. *Id.* at 598. This Court reasoned that the setting of criminal penalties is the sole prerogative of the legislature. *Id.* at 590. This Court held, "[b]eyond imposing the minimum and maximum, the sentencing judge lacks the statutory authority to alter an indeterminate sentence or decide when the offender is released. This lack of express authority binds the sentencing judge's hands." *Id.* at 593 (citations omitted).

This Court then analyzed the law under the Eighth

Amendment and held that where the substantive rule is not
violated, no procedural mechanism is required. *Id.* at 597. The
only mandatory portion of the sentence is the minimum term.

Id. As such, when sentenced, no one can say how long an individual will serve. *Id.* Thus, it cannot be said that any juvenile faces a sentence beyond the minimum term. *Id.* at 598.

This Court found "to the extent that a juvenile serves additional time beyond the minimum term, that period of incarceration is directly tied to their rehabilitation, which poses no facial disproportionality issue." *Id*.

Here, Fisher's sentence is an indeterminate sentence of 11.75 months to life. CP 5, 8, 192. Fisher not only has the possibility of release, he has the presumption of release, in hearings held under RCW 9.94A.730. *See* Appendix B attached to Fisher's Petition for Review, pgs. 84-91; CP 752-57; RCW 9.94A.730(3) (stating "[t]he board shall order the person released under such affirmative and other conditions as the board determines appropriate, unless the board determines by a preponderance of the evidence that, despite such conditions, it is more likely than not that the person will commit new criminal law violations if released."); *In re Pers*.

Restraint of Dodge, 198 Wn.2d 826, 829, 502 P.3d 349 (2022) (acknowledging this presumption of release).

Like in *Williams* and *Forcha-Williams*, Fisher is not mandated to serve a maximum term. *See Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 630-31; *Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d at 597-98. The only mandatory portion of his sentence was the 11.75 years set by the Board. CP 6, 8, 192. The connection between Fisher's release and rehabilitation alleviates the concern that a sentence beyond the minimum term will be disproportionate.

Fisher argues this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4) because his sentence is grossly disproportionate in violation of article I, section 14, under the analysis set forth in *State v. Fain*, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980).

Fisher's reliance on *Fain* for his disproportionality argument is misplaced. *See Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 387.

In *Fain*, our Supreme Court held that a life sentence for fraud convictions resulting in a financial loss of \$470 was

disproportionate to the seriousness of the defendant's crimes. *Id.* at 402. However, in *State v. Bassett*, this Court rejected the *Fain* analysis, which weighs the offense with the punishment, as ill-suited to a challenge based on the characteristics of the offender class, children. *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 83, 428 P.3d 343 (2018). Nonetheless, unlike the defendant in *Fain*, the trial court here did not sentence Fisher to life on minor predicate offenses. Fisher was convicted of second degree murder. He could have been out in 11.75 years. It cannot be said that his sentence is entirely disproportionate to the seriousness of his crime.

Fisher also argues that RCW 9.94A.730 does not provide an adequate remedy because he has "already been subject to 'unconstitutionally disproportionate punishment." Petition for Review, pg. 22. Again, as explained above, his argument fails because his sentence was not disproportionate. The connection between his release and rehabilitation alleviates the concern that a sentence beyond the minimum term will be disproportionate.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion does not meet the criteria in RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). This Court has recently addressed the questions presented here, and therefore, further guidance is not needed in this area. Fisher has not shown his sentence is grossly disproportionate, given the connection between his release and rehabilitation. As such, his petition for review should be denied.

WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION

This document contains 2,200 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.